ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
APR 21 2015
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHARLES GREEN, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002526

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court committed reversible error by refusing to charge the jury on self-defense where testimony was presented that Appellant encountered two armed men who were repeatedly antagonistic towards him and who had his money and where Appellant's girlfriend made a statement to police that although Appellant shot at one of the men, the two men shot at Appellant first.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 19, 2011, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Charles Green on counts of attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a felony. R. 174. On November 18, 2013, Appellant proceeded to trial before The Honorable J. Ernest Kinard and a jury. Thomasine Trasi Campbell represented Petitioner and Hunter P. Swanson represented the State. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and they found him guilty on the two weapons counts. R. 163, line 4—R. 164, line 3. The trial judge handed down concurrent sentences of two years of incarceration for the possession by a person convicted of a felony charge, five years for the possession of a weapon during the a violent crime charge, and ten years for the assault and battery charge. R. 173, lines 3-11.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED BY FAILING TO CHARGE SELF-DEFENSE BECAUSE TESTIMONY WAS PRESENTED TO SUPPORT EACH ELEMENT OF SELF-DEFENSE.

FACTS

At trial the State alleged that on April 6, 2011, Appellant approached and fired a shotgun at Clifton Henry in front of a Food Lion grocery store. R. 2, line 16—R. 3, line 4. Clifton Henry testified that he was at Channon Preston's house that morning when Appellant and his girlfriend, Ashley, drove up and threw two twenty dollar bills at them. Henry and Preston then walked to Food Lion. Appellant and his girlfriend then drove to Food Lion, and Appellant walked to them and asked for the money back. Henry and Preston obliged, Appellant walked back to his car, spun around with the gun, and shot at him. He caught pellets in his legs and arm.

R. 59, line 12—R. 71, line 4.

The State called Investigator Adam Zsamar with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office, who responded to a report of the shooting. R. 38, line 11—R. 43, line 9. He testified that as part of his investigation, he went to Channon Preston's home on Murray Drive near the Food Lion based on a report that an altercation involving gunshots occurred there before the Food Lion shooting. Investigator Zsamar learned that Preston and his mother, who also lived there, kept multiple guns in the house, and the mother was missing one on the day of the shooting. R. 43, line 11—R. 46, line 12.

The State also called Investigator Jeremiah Fraser, who also responded to the shooting. R. 82, line 16—R. 94, line 18. He stated on April 7, 2011, his investigation led him to Appellant's home to make an arrest. As he did so, his girlfriend, Ashley, "started

to holler that: He didn't start it, they shot at him first; was the first words out of her mouth [sic] once we took him into custody." R. 93, lines 16-20.

At the close of evidence, Appellant's counsel requested a jury charge on self-defense, stating that the testimony supported the charge. The judge denied the request, stating, "[T]here's no evidence, no direct testimony of it. And it's hearsay on hearsay. No bullet markings, he had no guns on him. . . . The guy—the victim testified he was not armed and did not shoot." R. 113, lines 6-24.

DISCUSSION

The trial court reversibly erred by failing to charge self-defense because testimony was presented to support each element of self-defense. The following four elements make up the complete defense of self-defense.

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 442-43, 377 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1989)

Once a defendant raises the issue of self-defense, the State must disprove it beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 544, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492-93 (1998). "If there is evidence of self-defense, the issue should be submitted to the jury.

upon request,” and the trial court commits reversible error by failing to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 261-62, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). Thus, testimony that a decedent fired a gunshot at a defendant who fired the fatal shot in return can support a self-defense charge. *State v. Taylor*, 261 S.C. 437, 200 S.E.2d 387 (1973). ““The general rule is that the failure to object to, or failure to move to strike, testimony renders such competent and accordingly entitled to be considered to the extent it is relevant.”” *State v. Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 266, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 (2003) (quoting *State v. Frank*, 262 S.C. 526, 205 S.E.2d 827 (1974)).

In this case, testimony was presented that Henry and Preston instigated a conflict with Appellant at the Food Lion, and Appellant was forced to fire at Henry to protect himself. Investigator Zsamar testified he went to Preston’s home on Murray Drive based on a report that an altercation involving gunshots occurred there before the shooting. He also testified Preston’s mother was missing a gun. Investigator Fraser then testified that Appellant’s girlfriend gave a statement that Henry and Preston shot at him first. Considering Henry’s unlikely story of how he came to possess Appellant’s money, taken together the evidence supports the finding that Henry and Preston repeatedly acted antagonistically toward Appellant on the day of the incident. Further, the two came to possess Appellant’s money and were ostensibly in possession of a gun. Thus, the evidence supports a finding that Appellant was without fault in encountering the armed, antagonistic men, and fearing imminent danger, he had no reasonable choice but to fire back.

The trial judge concluded that the testimony of Appellant’s girlfriend that Henry and Preston fired at Appellant first could not support a charge for self-defense because it

was "hearsay on hearsay" and inconsistent with other evidence. The trial judge erred because the testimony was relevant and admitted into the record without objection and was therefore competent to support the charge. Apodictically, that the testimony was inconsistent with other evidence presented at trial was immaterial.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests reversal of his convictions for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and remand for a new trial.