STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APR 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Beaufort County
The Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002526

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES GREEN, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARY W. LEDDON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

I. McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(803) 470-3725

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The trial court correctly denied Appellant's request to charge the jury on self-defense where evidence failed to support such a charge.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Green ("Appellant") was indicted for attempted murder, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and unlawful possession of a weapon. (R. 174-79) He proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., on November 18, 2013. Appellant was convicted of the lesser offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature ("ABHAN") and sentenced to fifteen years. (R. p. 175) He was also convicted of unlawful possession of a weapon and possession of a weapon during a violent crime, receiving sentences of two and five years respectively. (R. p. 175)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 6, 2011, Clifton Henry ("Henry") suffered shotgun pellet wounds to his left hip, thigh, and arm. (R. pp. 15-18) Luckily, the wounds were superficial, not appearing to impact bones or vital organs. (R. pp. 15-18) The shooting occurred at "a small shopping complex," consisting of a Food Lion, a Chinese restaurant, and other stores. (R. p. 27) Shotgun wadding was recovered at the scene. (R. pp. 31-33)

In April 2011, Henry lived on Murray Drive in the Burton area of Beaufort County. On April 6, 2011, Henry went to his friend Channon Preston's ("Preston") house, also on Murray Drive. (R. p. 60) As Henry and Preston sat outside, Appellant, also a resident of Murray Drive, arrived with his girlfriend, Ashley Thomas ("Thomas") in a gray Grand Marquis. (R. pp. 60-61; pp. 85-86) The couple went inside the house then Appellant came back out. According to Preston:

...[Appellant] was telling me and Channon he had just spent \$700. So Channon said, what did you spend it on? And he never said. Channon said, well, you better give us some of that money. [Appellant] throw [sic] two \$20 bills on the table and said, you two n*****s take that.

(R. p. 60) Henry and Preston took the money and went to Food Lion. (R. p. 60) At Food Lion, Appellant encountered Appellant and Thomas again:

And [Appellant] came up to us, he was – tears was coming out of his eye. [Appellant] say, I just been playing, man, let me get my money back. So we both [Preston and Henry] reach in our pocket and hand him \$20 back. And [Appellant] walk off. And when [Appellant] walk off, he went to the car, sat in the car, and spin around with the gun and shot the gun. The pellets catch me in my quarters and my arm. And [Appellant] drove off, say, now y'all so-and-so laugh at that.

(R. pp. 62-64) Henry reported Appellant used a double-barrel sawed-off shotgun retrieved from the passenger side floorboard. (R. p. 65) Henry denied being armed at the

Food Lion or at Murray Drive. (R. p. 65) Henry also denied any altercation between himself and Appellant that day prior to the shooting. (R. p. 66) Henry identified Appellant as his assailant from a photo lineup and in court. (R. p. 68; pp. 86-88)

Surveillance footage from the Chinese restaurant showed:

...[Appellant] get out of the passenger's side of the vehicle as [Victim and Preston] had described, walk over to where they were at, walk back – and what you are talking about is just a matter of a few feet. It's not a huge distance. It's very short distance. Go back to the vehicle, he turns around again, and then gets back in the vehicle and the vehicle flees....

(R. pp. 91-92)

When officers took Appellant into custody, Thomas shouted, "He didn't start it, they shot at him first." (R. p. 93) Appellant was interviewed but maintained he knew nothing of the incident. (R. p. 94) Appellant did not testify at trial.

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly denied Appellant's request to charge the jury on self-defense where such a charge is not supported by the evidence.

A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)); Santiago v. State, 370 S.C. 153, 634 S.E.2d 23 (Ct. App. 2006). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." Mattison, 388 S.C. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 58.

"A self-defense charge is not required unless it is supported by the evidence." State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 649, 664 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2008) (citing State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994)). "If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge's refusal to do so is reversible error." Light, 378 S.C. at 650, 664 S.E.2d at 469 (citing State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 644 S.E.2d 50 (2007)); State v. Frazier, 401 S.C. 224, 233, 736 S.E.2d 301, 306 (Ct. App. 2013). A defendant must meet four prongs to justify using deadly force in self-defense:

- (1) The defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) The defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) If the defense is based upon the defendant's actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would

have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life; and

(4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011) (citing State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489, 493 [1998]). “[W]hen a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id.

The evidence in this case simply does not support a jury instruction on self-defense. Appellant fails to meet the first element of self-defense. By all accounts, Henry and Preston were going into the Food Lion grocery store when Appellant drove up alongside them with a shotgun in the passenger floorboard. It is uncontested that Appellant exited the car and approached Henry and Preston, demanding money back. It is uncontested that Appellant returned to his car, turned, retrieved a shotgun from the front passenger floorboard, exited the vehicle, and opened fire. See State v. Wigington, 375 S.C. 25, 649 S.E.2d 185 (Ct. App. 2007) (Where defendant injected himself into verbal argument, removed himself from the argument, then returned with a gun, he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty). Henry testified that he was unarmed and that there was no altercation; he simply returned Appellant’s money as requested. There is no evidence of any weapon other than a shotgun being present at the Food Lion. Because Appellant approached the unarmed Henry, Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

As for the second element, belief he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger, again there

is no evidence to support such a charge. The only evidence presented was that Appellant armed himself. The testimony established that Henry was actually attempting to hide behind the pillar when Appellant pulled the trigger. That Henry had time to assume a defensive position at such close range would in itself seem to negate Appellant's claim that Henry posed a threat. Henry testified that he was unarmed (R. p. 65), he had no prior conflicts with Appellant (R. p. 66), and he never threatened Appellant (R. p. 71). Similarly, absent evidence to support a belief of imminent danger, no evidence exists to support the third element of self-defense. Appellant's comment, "now y'all so-and-so laugh at that," as he drove away indicates that he was not in fear of his own life but rather enjoyed instilling fear in Henry.

As for the final element, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance, again no evidence exists. Appellant had time to return to his car, turn his back, and return to Henry before firing. He safely reached his vehicle and had time to safely retrieve a shotgun. Therefore, it stands to reason that he could have avoided any supposed danger by driving away. Further, Henry had time to hide.

Appellant attempts to construct a self-defense claim from hearsay evidence that his significant other, Thomas, exclaimed as he was arrested, "He didn't start it, they shot at him first." Even if accepted as evidence, this exclamation does not even identify who "they" are or what incident she is referring to.¹ Even if we assume she was referring to

¹ In denying Appellant's request for a charge on self-defense, Judge Kinard stated:

... there's no evidence, no direct testimony of it. And it's hearsay on hearsay. No bullet markings, he had no guns on him. They took him straight there. Forget it.

(R. p. 112) While it is the minority view, many states, including Georgia, find that, "[h]earsay evidence is without probative value and will not establish fact in issue even in the absence of a timely objection."

the incident at Food Lion, the argument still fails. It was Appellant who armed himself and sought Henry out, negating the possibility that Appellant was without fault in bringing on the confrontation. Moreover, as Appellant had time to safely return to his car and Henry had time to cringe behind a pillar, it would seem that even Ashley's hearsay statement would fail to meet the fourth element of self-defense.

Appellant cites to "facts" not in the record. There is no evidence that Henry "instigated a conflict at Food Lion." In fact, the only evidence in the record indicates that Appellant initiated the encounter when he pulled up, exited his car, and approached Henry and Preston. Further, the fact that Preston's mother had her gun stolen was in no way linked to this incident. Preston's mother did not know who had stolen the gun, and no time frame was given. (R. pp. 44-46) Appellant's girlfriend never "gave a statement" or testified. At best, there is hearsay evidence that she exclaimed as her significant other was arrested, "He didn't start it, they shot at him first." This exclamation does not even identify who "they" are or when this occurred. Nothing in Henry's story can support a self-defense charge. In fact, Henry's testimony leads to the opposite conclusion. According to Henry, he was unarmed, complied with Appellant's request to return the money, and had no altercations with Appellant prior to Appellant opening fire on him. Henry was hiding behind a pillar when Appellant opened fire, and this portion of Henry's story is corroborated by the minimal wounds he sustained. No evidence in the record supports Appellant's contention that Henry and Preston were "armed, antagonistic men" or that they were "ostensibly in possession of a gun."

Roney v. State, 192 Ga. App. 760, 761 386 S.E.2d 412, 414 (1989). South Carolina has not expressly ruled on this issue. The State submits it is not necessary to reach this question because even if Thomas' testimony was accepted, the evidence still would not support a self-defense charge.

In the absence of evidence, the trial court properly denied Appellant's request to charge self-defense.

CONCLUSION